
SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE

i

AGENDA

To:  City Councillors: McPherson (Chair), Meftah (Vice-Chair), Ashton, Avery, 
Dryden, Moore, O'Connell, Pippas and Sanders

County Councillors: Ashwood, Crawford and Taylor

Dispatched: Friday, 25 September 2015

Date: Monday, 5 October 2015
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Wilkinson Room - St John the Evangelist Church Hills Road 

Cambridge CB2 8RN
Contact: James Goddard Direct Dial: 01223 457013

1  Apologies for Absence  

2   Declarations of Interest  
Members of the committee are asked to declare any interests in the items 
on the agenda. In the case of any doubt, the advice of the Head of Legal 
should be sought before the meeting.

3   Minutes  (Pages 5 - 14)
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2015.

4   Matters and Actions Arising from the Minutes  (Pages 15 - 
16)
Committee Action Sheet from last meeting attached.

5   Open Forum  
Refer to the ‘Information for the Public’ section for rules on speaking.

6  Cycling Projects Update  (Pages 17 - 24)

7  Environmental Data Reports - SAC  (Pages 25 - 58)

Public Document Pack



ii

Meeting Information
Open Forum Members of the public are invited to ask any 

question, or make a statement on any matter 
related to their local area covered by the City 
Council Wards for this Area Committee. The 
Forum will last up to 30 minutes, but may be 
extended at the Chair’s discretion. The Chair may 
also time limit speakers to ensure as many are 
accommodated as practicable.

Filming, recording 
and photography

The Council is committed to being open and 
transparent in the way it conducts its decision 
making. The public may record (e.g. film, audio, 
tweet, blog) meetings which are open to the 
public. 

Anyone who does not want to be recorded should 
let the Chair of the meeting know. Those 
recording meetings are strongly urged to respect 
the wish of any member of the public not to be 
recorded.

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding please 
follow the instructions of Cambridge City Council 
staff. 

Facilities for 
disabled people

Level access is available at all Area Committee 
Venues.

A loop system is available on request. 

Meeting papers are available in large print and 
other formats on request prior to the meeting.

For further assistance please contact Democratic 
Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk.

Queries on 
reports

If you have a question or query regarding a 
committee report please contact the officer listed 
at the end of relevant report or Democratic 
Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk.

mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


iii

General 
Information

Information regarding committees, councilors and 
the democratic process is available at 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ 

Mod.Gov App You can get committee agenda and reports for 
your tablet by using the mod.gov app

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

1

SOUTH AREA COMMITTEE 29 June 2015
7.00 - 8.50 pm

Present

Area Committee Members: Councillors McPherson (Chair), Meftah (Vice-
Chair), Ashton, Avery, Dryden, Moore, O'Connell and Pippas

Area Committee Members: County Councillors Crawford and Taylor

Officers: 
Operations Manager – Community Engagement and Enforcement: Wendy 
Young
Safer Communities Section Manager: Lynda Kilkelly
Committee Manager: James Goddard

Other Officers in Attendance:
Police Inspector: Matt Johnson
Police Sergeant: Chris Horton
Head of Corporate Strategy: Andrew Limb

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL

15/93/SAC Election of Chair and Vice Chair - SAC

The Committee Manager took the Chair whilst the South Area Committee 
elected a Chair.
 
Councillor Avery proposed, and Councillor Moore seconded, the nomination of 
Councillor Pippas as Chair.

Councillor Dryden proposed, and Councillor Ashton seconded, the nomination 
of Councillor McPherson as Chair.
 
Resolved (by 4 votes to 4 (twice) and on the flip of a coin by the 
Committee Manager) that Councillor McPherson be Chair for the ensuing 
year.
 
Councillor McPherson assumed the Chair from the Committee Manager at this 
point.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

2

 
Councillor Dryden proposed, and Councillor Ashton seconded, the nomination 
of Councillor Meftah as Vice Chair

Councillor Avery proposed, and Councillor Moore seconded, the nomination of 
Councillor Pippas as Vice Chair.
  
Resolved (by 4 votes to 4 and on Chair’s casting vote) that Councillor 
Meftah be Vice Chair for the ensuing year.

15/94/SAC Apologies for Absence

Apologies were received from Councillors Ashwood and Sanders.

15/95/SAC Declarations of Interest

Name Item Interest
Councillor Avery 15/99/SACa Personal: Lives in Accordia Estate.

15/96/SAC Minutes

The minutes of the 30 March 2015 meeting would be published after the 
meeting for approval and signing as a correct record at the 5 October 2015 
South Area Committee.

15/97/SAC Matters and Actions Arising from the Minutes

The Committee Action Sheet was noted for information.

Action Lead 
Officer/Member

Timescale Progress

Open Forum

Councillor Ashton to 
liaise with Jean Bainger 
regarding her pedestrian 
safety concerns relating 
to crossing from Church 
End to Teversham Drift; 
after raising these with 

Councillor Ashton Feedback 
at next SAC 
29/06/15

Page 6



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

3

Highways Officers.
Street Lighting

Balfour Beatty 
representatives to liaise 
with South Area 
Committee Members 
post SAC 30/03/15 
regarding issues raised 
in meeting.

Balfour Beatty 
representatives 
and SAC 
Members

Feedback 
at next SAC 
29/06/15

Street Lighting

Balfour Beatty 
representatives and 
Councillor Crawford to 
check County Council’s 
discretion to vary times 
when street lights can 
be dimmed or turned off.

Balfour Beatty 
representatives 
and Councillor 
Crawford

Feedback 
at next SAC 
29/06/15

Concern 
expressed at 
30/03/15 SAC 
that current 
proposals were 
different from 
original 
expectations.

15/98/SAC Open Forum

1. Ms Davis raised the following issues:
 Expressed disappointment that (agenda item 10) Hills Road 

Cycle Scheme was not on the agenda for discussion.
 There was no information regarding the extension to Hills Road 

Cycle Scheme work, which would take weeks.
 Took issue with areas of the new cycle lane appearing to be 

unfinished (para 2.5 of the Officer’s report).
 Asked for South Area Committee’s (SAC) thoughts on the impact 

of parts of the cycleway being unfinished on commuters’ safety.

SAC Councillors expressed concern for pedestrians and cyclists, 
particularly people with visual/physical impairments who may be affected 
by trip hazards.

Councillor Taylor said she had been given reassurances before the cycle 
scheme work was implemented that no problems were expected.

Page 7



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

4

Councillors Ashton and Pippas said that Mike Davies (Team Leader - 
Cycling Projects, Cambridgeshire County Council) had been invited to 
attend SAC on various occasions in the past (including 29 June 2015). 
Councillor McPherson, as Chair, would ask him to attend the next SAC 
meeting.

ACTION POINT: Councillor McPherson to liaise with Mike Davies (Team 
Leader - Cycling Projects, Cambridgeshire County Council) regarding 
Hills Road Traffic and Safety Scheme to:

 Seek a more joined up approach between City and County Councils 
in response to residents’ concerns.

 Request a County Officer attends next SAC meeting.

2. Mr Rand raised the following issues:
 Thanked SAC for its financial support of the Queen Edith’s (ward) 

newsletter in the March 2015 meeting (15/89/SAC Area Committee 
Grants 2015-16 – SAC). The first edition had now been published.

 Expressed concern that street lights would be turned off from April 
2016. Expected events would follow a similar course to Essex ie 
lights would be turned off, petitions submitted as a result, then 
lights would be turned on again when funding was “found” as a 
result of protests. Requested that Cambridgeshire County Council 
avoided following suit. Stated Cambridgeshire County Council had 
refused to keep street lights on despite funding being available.

Councillor Taylor said the County Council would have switched street 
lights off this financial year, but realised they were not able to as a 
consultation exercise had not been undertaken. The Highway and 
Community Infrastructure Committee would meet in early July 2015 to 
discuss street lighting for 2016 onwards.  There was funding in the 
budget to keep street lighting in specific areas eg around Addenbrooke’s 
Hospital.

Councillor Dryden said joint meetings between the City and County 
Council would occur regarding street lighting. The Safer Communities 
Section Manager referenced the consultation going to the City Strategy 
and Resources Committee in July 2015.

Councillor Moore said a study had been undertaken to look at the impact 
on crime of switching off street lights. The results were unclear. No link 
was indicated between crime and light levels, but there was not enough 
evidence to clearly say so.

Page 8



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

5

3. Mr Bower took issue with public speaking rights at Area 
Committees and asked for these to be more generous.

15/99/SAC Record of Urgent Decisions taken by the Chair, Vice Chair 
and Spokesperson for South Area Committee
</AI7>
<AI8>
15/99/SACa Accordia Scooter Park Project Procurement
The decision was noted.
</AI8>
<AI9>
15/99/SACb Trumpington Bowls Pavilion Extension
The decision was noted.

15/100/SACPolicing & Safer Neighbourhoods - SAC 29 June 2015

The Committee received a report from the Police Sergeant regarding the 
policing and safer neighbourhoods trends.

The report outlined actions taken since the Committee on 2 February 2015. 
The current emerging issues/neighbourhood trends for each ward were also 
highlighted (see report for full details). Previous priorities and engagement 
activity noted in the report were:

i. Continue to target the supply of controlled drugs (Class A).
ii. Target road safety by addressing anti-social cycling and speeding.
iii. Reduce dwelling burglary.

The Committee discussed the following policing issues:
i. Contacting the police to become speed watch volunteers.
ii. Anti-social car parking near schools. SAC said sufficient warnings had 

been given and requested the Police to now take enforcement action eg 
issuing parking tickets.

iii. Cars parking in cycle lanes.
iv. Road safety near Addenbrooke’s Hospital.
v. The number of burglaries, specifically bikes in outbuildings.
vi. Cycle theft in Trumpington.
vii. Dwelling burglary.
viii. Registering personal property through immobilise.com so the Police 

could trace property that was reported stolen.
ix. Checklist of information police would like members of the public to 

include when reporting crime.

Page 9



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

6

x. Mismatch in reported information: Violent crime incidents were declining 
but the number of news headlines were increasing.

xi. Anti-social cycling, particularly by language school students.
xii. Cycles blocking pavements when parked on them. This was a trip hazard 

for pedestrians.
xiii. Drug dealing in Rock Road and associated needle drops. Clean up 

requests to be made to the Operations Manager – Community 
Engagement and Enforcement.

xiv. Management of the Cambridge Lakes.
xv. Incidents of racial abuse near Cherry Hinton Hall.
xvi. Anti-social behaviour involving dogs in the Cherry Hinton area.

SAC asked for the minutes to show their thanks for the neighbourhood policing 
work, particularly by PCSOs.

Members of the public asked a number of questions, as set out below.

1. Mr Taylor raised the following points:
 The Police & Crime Commissioner had undertaken to visit each 

Area Committee once a year. It was a shame this had not 
occurred.

 Speeding had been omitted from the last series of Police 
priorities.

 There were no statistics on road traffic offences or injuries, so 
queried how these were being tackled.

Sergeant Horton said speeding would be monitored more closely in 
future. Details had been left out of the SAC report due to an oversight.

2. Mr Bower asked why the Officer said crime levels were dropping in 
his verbal report when high levels were listed in the SAC report.

Sergeant Horton said all area committees received the same report 
format. Violent crime statistics included domestic abuse, which may 
affect trend levels, but did not seem to be a major issue (in terms of 
numbers) given the lack of comment from residents.

3. Ms Davis referenced Hills Road cycleway work. She asked what 
was more unsafe, cycling on the pavement or the unfinished 
roadway.

Page 10



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

7

Sergeant Horton suggested cycling on the road where an even surface 
was available, and the shared pavement cycleway where the road 
surface was uneven.

The following priorities were unanimously agreed:
i. Discharge dwelling burglary as a specific SAC priority as it was a 

‘standard’ cross-city police priority. SAC could re-instate it as a specific 
area priority if required in future.

ii. Continue to target the supply of controlled drugs (Class A).
iii. Continue to target road safety (and speeding) by addressing anti-social 

cycling and parking.
iv. New priority: Management of the Cambridge Lakes.

15/101/SACEnvironmental Data Reports - SAC

The Committee received a report from the Operations Manager – Community 
Engagement and Enforcement. 

The report outlined an overview of City Council Refuse and Environment and 
Streets and Open Spaces service activity relating to the geographical area 
served by the South Area Committee.  The report identified the reactive and 
proactive service actions undertaken in the previous quarter, including the 
requested priority targets, and reported back on the recommended issues and 
associated actions. It also included key officer contacts for the reporting of 
waste and refuse and public realm issues. 

The following were suggestions for Members on what action could be 
considered for priority within the South Area for the quarter of April to June 
2015:

Continuing priorities
i. Early morning patrols for dog fouling on Bliss Way/Tenby Close, 

Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground, Godwin Close, Godwin Way, 
Gunhild Way and Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground. 

ii. Enforcement targeted approach to areas where Addenbrooke’s site joins 
residential areas such as Hills Road and Red Cross Lane and to work 
with Addenbrooke’s to work towards the bus station area being cleaned 
up. 

iii. Enforcement to work with the County Council, against utilities and 
companies that damage the verge on Mowbray and Fendon Road. 

Page 11



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

8

iv. Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog 
fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping at Cherry Hinton Recreation 
Ground and areas surrounding green space.  

v. Enforcement work to investigate and enforce fly tipping and illegal waste 
disposal at the public recycling points in the South Area

vi. Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with littering from students 
of Long Road Sixth Form in the areas of Long Road and Sedley Taylor 
Road. 

New suggested priorities
vii. Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog 

fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping at Ainsdale play area, 
Nightingale Recreation Ground and Kingfisher Way play area.  

The Operations Manager – Community Engagement and Enforcement 
suggested discounting priority iv as it had been completed.

The Committee discussed the following issues:
i. Cars parking on Mowbray Road verges.
ii. Cleaning of the passageways around Hulatt Road, Mowbray Road and 

Wort’s Causeway.
iii. Alleyways should be included in ‘deep clean’ work as standard in future, 

not just streets in an area.
iv. Possibility of grass cutting causing hazards by mowing over cans/bottles 

on verges and processes to overcome the issue.
v. Positive response to enforcement action taken against dog fouling on 

Nightingale Recreation Ground.
vi. Enforcement action by City Officers and Addenbrooke’s staff has led to 

less fly tipping near the hospital.
vii. Mounting mobile CCTV cameras on lamp posts in order to take 

enforcement action, to save requiring an Officer to be physically present 
in an area to witness an incident.

viii. Cleansing at Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground 

ACTION: Operations Manager – Community Engagement and 
Enforcement to investigate if mobile CCTV cameras can be placed on 
street lights to monitor dog fouling and other environmental issues 
in/near recreation areas.

In response to Members’ questions the Operations Manager – Community 
Engagement and Enforcement said the following:

Page 12



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

9

i. To follow up with Addenbrooke’s to see if they would accept surplus City 
Council bins that included ashtrays in the top. These would be used 
(just) off site as Addenbrooke’s was a non-smoking site.

ii. A central pool of Rangers would undertake work in the south area until a 
specific member had been recruited to the team.

iii. A Dog Warden has recently been to Cherry Hinton Hall area to educate 
people about irresponsible dog ownership and was shortly holding a free 
microchipping event. 

The Committee discussed the following as an additional and revised 
recommendations for action:

Recommendation 4
Enforcement action against nuisance vehicles being repaired at Arran Close.

Following discussion, Members unanimously resolved to approve priorities 
for action as amended below:

Continuing priorities
i. Early morning patrols for dog fouling on Bliss Way/Tenby Close, 

Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground, Godwin Close, Godwin Way, 
Gunhild Way and Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground. 

ii. Enforcement targeted approach to areas where Addenbrooke’s site joins 
residential areas such as Hills Road and Red Cross Lane and to work 
with Addenbrooke’s to work towards the bus station area being cleaned 
up. 

iii. Enforcement to work with the County Council, against utilities and 
companies that damage the verge on Mowbray and Fendon Road. 

iv. Enforcement action against nuisance vehicles being repaired at Arran 
Close.

v. Enforcement work to investigate and enforce fly tipping and illegal waste 
disposal at the public recycling points in the South Area

vi. Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with littering from students 
of Long Road Sixth Form in the areas of Long Road and Sedley Taylor 
Road. 

New suggested priorities
vii. Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog 

fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping at Ainsdale play area, 
Nightingale Recreation Ground and Kingfisher Way play area.

15/102/SACHills Road Cycle Scheme

Page 13



South Area Committee Monday, 29 June 2015

10

The information report was noted.

15/103/SACAccess From the Main Rail Station to Cambridge Leisure

The information report was noted.

The meeting ended at 8.50 pm

CHAIR

Page 14



Committee Action Sheet

Committee South Area Committee
Date 29/06/15
Circulated on 03/07/15
Updated on 22/10/15

ACTION LEAD 
OFFICER/MEMBER

TIMESCALE PROGRESS

Open Forum

Councillor McPherson 
to liaise with Mike 
Davies (Team Leader 
- Cycling Projects, 
Cambridgeshire
County Council) 
regarding Hills Road 
Traffic And Safety 
Scheme to:

 Seek a more 
joined up 
approach 
between City 
and County 
Councils in 
response to 
residents’ 
concerns.

 Request a 
County Officer 
attends next 
SAC meeting.

Councillor McPherson Feedback at 
next SAC 
05/10/15

Agenda item for 
05/10/15

Environmental Data 
Report

Wendy Young to 
investigate if mobile 
CCTV cameras can 
be placed on street 
lights to monitor dog 
fouling in/near 
recreation areas.

Wendy Young, 
Operations Manager 
– Community 
Engagement and 
Enforcement

Feedback at 
next SAC 
05/10/15

Wendy Young 
confirmed that 
CCTV cameras 
are not allowed 
solely for the 
purposes of 
watching owners 
not clearing up 
their after their 
dogs. Her Page 15

Agenda Item 4



understanding of 
the action point 
was to look into 
whether the new 
lampposts would 
support the 
CCTV cameras, 
which she will 
provide an 
update on before 
the next AC. 

Page 16



CYCLING PROJECTS UPDATE 
 
Note to Members of Cambridge City – South Area Committee 
 
From: Mike Davies, Team Leader - Cycling Projects, Cambridgeshire County 
Council 
 
Date: 5 October 2015 
 

 
1.0 HILLS ROAD TRAFFIC AND SAFETY SCHEME 

 
1.1 The Hills Road segregated cycle lane scheme is funded by the Department for Transport (DfT) 

Cycle City Ambition Grant. The scheme aims to make cycling safer, and thus more attractive, 
between key employment, education and residential centres. It also seeks to improve the 
pedestrian experience by segregating cyclists form pedestrians, whilst also improving bus stop 
infrastructure to aid bus users. The scheme was approved by the County Council’s Economy and 
Environment Committee on 8 July 2014. The detailed design was then completed, and 
construction began on 26 January 2015. 

 
1.2 Progress in the first few months of the construction works was slower than expected due to 

delays in agreeing protection measures for utility services encountered, and a generally poor start 
by the sub contractor who had been appointed relatively late on. It was apparent early on that the 
original works programme of 37 weeks would be difficult to achieve, and clearly the programme 
provided was over optimistic, reflecting the client’s original deadlines for completion associated 
with funding deadlines, rather than a realistic construction programme.   

 
1.3 Improvements in contractor performance and efficiency have been apparent in recent months, 

helped by additional labour, more efficient working methods and the allowance of a longer 
working window during school holidays. Progress is now more rapid, though the poor start has 
meant a completion date later than first hoped.  

 
1.4 Lighting contractors Balfour Beatty have been working ahead of the cycleway works, as they 

proceed to remove old lighting columns and install new ones. This has generally worked well, but 
on occasions this has added delays to the cycleway works and created undesirable narrowings 
through the site area.  

 
1.5 The site compound area has moved a number of times. In urban areas it is always difficult to 

establish a convenient location for compounds without impacting on residents.  
 

1.6 Due to the specification of the red asphalt material that is being used as the final cycle lane 
running surface, it is only possible for the batching plant to produce approximately 80 tonnes of 
this material at any one time. This 80 tonnes equates to approximately 300 metres of cycle lane 
based on the current widths and thickness of the material being laid.  Consequently we have to 
complete and make ready this kind of length prior to it being surfaced and thus there have been 
lengths pf temporary surface left in place for long periods of time. 

 
1.7 The first length of red surfacing material was layed on 18

th
 July, with a further visit on 26

th
 July. At 

the time of writing the next visit looks likely for 27
th
 September. The laying of red material has had 

to be delayed on a number of occasions due to events at Homerton College, Race for Life and 
other works in the area. 

 
1.8 With an embargo on roadworks throughout December, realistic completion of the works is now set 

for March 2016.  
 

1.9 County officers are well aware that local members and residents have been dissatisfied with 
progress on the scheme, and in particular the long periods of time for which temporary surfaces 
have been in place. Officers have responded to much correspondence and have attended 
meetings with residents to try to address concerns. Officers have expressed their disappointment 
to the contractor at a senior level. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



1.10 A number of lessons have been learnt from the delivery of the scheme by both Cambridgeshire 
County Council and main contractor Skanska. Clearly sub contractors need to be appointed as 
early as possible and consulted so that a much more realistic programme can be provided. 
Skanska designed the scheme, and their design team need in future to engage more closely with 
their construction team, as well as sub contractors. Longer mobilisation and lead in periods for 
projects are desirable to ensure that likely issues and matters of buildability can be addressed, 
and final designs made even better. The reality of how funding is provided means that this is 
generally not possible. 

 
1.11 The problems of delivering the scheme have rather blighted the fact that once complete the new 

cycle lanes will improve capacity and safety for cyclists, whilst separating them from both 
pedestrians and motor traffic including buses. As the city grows it is essential that more people 
consider non car options to ensure that the city is not grid locked. 

 
1.12 Details of the scheme are on the County Council website. Officers can also be contacted on 

01223 699906 or at Transport Delivery Transport.Delivery@cambridgeshire.gov.uk .  

 
2.0 THE CHISHOLM TRAIL 

 
2.1 The Chisholm Trail is a proposed new foot and cycle route that links the existing and new 

stations, as well as each end of the Busway cycle route, thus creating a north-south 
predominantly traffic free route linking many of the main residential areas and employment 
centres. In so doing, the route proposed follows as close to the rail line as possible, except where 
there are blockages caused by buildings or other sites in the way. This is a Greater Cambridge 
City Deal project, with a budget of £8.4 million. 
 

2.2 Public consultation runs from 19
th
 October to 30

th
 November, and will include four public drop in 

sessions, with a questionnaire also available to complete on paper or on line. 
 

2.3 Full details of the proposal, including a detailed route document can be viewed at this link:    
http://tinyurl.com/qdlarbl 

 
2.4 Features of particular interest associated with the proposals include use of spare bridge arches at 

Mill Road, a new underpass at Newmarket Road, and a new bridge crossing the river Cam linking 
Abbey with Chesterton, close to the existing rail bridge. 

 
2.5 Land take along the trail may mean that there is scope to provide small areas of public open 

space and scope to provide seating, tree planting, play equipment, interpretation boards and 
public art, thus widening the scope and overall appeal of the project beyond simply that of 
transport. 

 
2.6 The bridge element of the Chisholm Trail is being funded by Department for Transport Cycle City 

Ambition Grant and Section 106 developer funding. A number of bridge options have been 
developed by a specialist bridge architect. Approval to develop one of the designs further, and to 
submit a planning application, will be sought from the County Council’s Economy and 
Environment Committee on 17

th
 November. 

 
2.7 The bridge designs can be seen at this link http://tinyurl.com/o5d8ezs 

 
3.0 CAMBRIDGE STATION TO LEISURE PARK FEASIBILITY STUDY  

 
3.1 Approval was given by the County Council’s Cabinet on 18

th
 December 2012 to undertake a 

feasibility study into a new pedestrian bridge linking Cambridge Station to the Leisure Park site. 
The suggestion to undertake this work was made by both South and East Area Committees (any 
bridge would span both areas). £25,000 was allocated to undertake the study. 
 

3.2 The scope of the study was to look at potential options to improve access and reduce journey 
time to the Leisure Park for pedestrians, users with impaired mobility and for users with 
pushchairs.  

 
3.3 The brief was to map existing journey times from the Station to the Leisure Park and compare 

them with the journey times of the options. Options information included estimated cost, distance 
and time savings. 

Page 18

mailto:Transport.Delivery@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
http://tinyurl.com/qdlarbl
http://tinyurl.com/o5d8ezs


 
3.4 The Study was completed in February 2015 and can be seen in full at  http://tinyurl.com/o5ro4xl 

 
3.5 The present route from the station, shown below, would take approximately 12 minutes 40 

seconds on foot, at a pace of 4km/h.  However, for pedestrians capable of using the existing 
steps on Hills Road Bridge, journey time would reduce to 11 minutes 7 seconds from the station. 

 
Plan 1 – current walking route (shown in red) or via stairs (shown yellow) 

 
 

3.6 To assess potential usage a traffic count was carried out on Hills Road Bridge over two days, on 
Saturday 7 March 2015 and Thursday 12 March 2015 for a 12 hour period from 0700-1900. On 
both days the weather was mild and clear. The pedestrian points measured and data are shown 
on the Photo and table below. 

 
3.7 Each individual in the table number represents a single pedestrian trip up or down the stairs or in 

or out of the Shopping Centre (SC).  
 

 
 
 

Page 19

http://tinyurl.com/o5ro4xl


Data for Pedestrian Access via Stairs and Shopping Centre (SC) 

Stairs Saturday 7 Stairs Thursday 12 SC Saturday 7 SC  Thursday 12 

2438 Able Bodied 
0 With Disability 

3372 Able Bodied 
0 With Disability 

4388 Able Bodied 
0 With Disability 

7771 Able Bodied 
3 With Disability 

 
3.8 The following options were considered, and these are shown in Appendix 1. 

 

 A new bridge over the railway joining the CB1 development east of the Cambridge Signal 
Box with the multi-storey car park along Clifton Way (Option 1) 
 

 A new bridge from Hills Road just north of the Busway underpass to Clifton Way, 
alongside The Junction nightclub (Option 2); 

 

 A new ramp from the top of the existing stairs along Hills Road south of the railway 
bridge, extending over the access to the hotel car park at the end of Clifton Way and 
heading towards the Leisure Park (Option 3A); 

 

 A new ramp from the top of the aforementioned stairs, running along the existing Hills 
Road retaining wall and returning upon itself before finishing near the base of the existing 
stairs (Option 3B); 

 

 A new lift provided at the location of the existing stairs, as proposed elsewhere as part of 
Project Cambridge (Option 3C) 

 

 A new built-up ramp immediately south of the hotel (Option 4). 
 

 Do Nothing 
 

3.9 Indicative cost estimates have been developed based upon work in other areas. These costs 
could increase by as much as 30% if certain risks came to fruition through detailed design such 
as complex utility services that need moving, or if railway ‘track possessions’ take longer than 
anticipated. 

 

Option Description  Cost 

1 Bridge between Signal Box to multi-storey car park  £3.3 million 

2 Bridge between Hills Road Busway Bridge to The Junction £3.3 million 

3a Ramp over car park access to Cinema building £1.6 million 

3b Ramp along Hills Road  wall  £1.3 million 

3c Lift access provision at existing steps £0.5 million 

4 Ramp access south of Hotel £0.1 million 

DN Do Nothing £0 

 
3.10 Travel time difference for each option is identified in the table below. The times in the current 

travel time cells, cover walking all the way around the route shown in red on Drawing 1 above, or 
using the stairs, into the Leisure Park from Hills Road bridge, as shown in yellow. 
 
Time Savings 

Option Current travel 
time  

Option Travel time Time Saving (or 
increase) 

1 12m 40s / 11m 7s 9m 8s 3m 32s / 1m 59s 

2 12m 40s / 11m 7s 11m 35s 1m 55s / +28s 

3a 12m 40s / 11m 7s 11m 33s 1m 57s / +26s 

3b 12m 40s / 11m 7s 11m 56s 44s / +49s 

3c 12m 40s / 11m 7s 11m 15s 1m 25s / +8s 

4 12m 40s / 11m 7s 12m 40s / + 53s 

 
Option Breakdown and Major Risks 
 

3.11 Option 1 - Is a complex solution, the area around CB1 is very restricted in places to develop a 
bridge on both sides of the rail lines. The lines themselves have overhead equipment that needs 
to be avoided by a minimum height; this would lead to a bridge similar in height and length to the 
Carter Bridge.  This option has a landing onto the multi-story car park where an external lift would 

Page 20



be placed to return pedestrians to ground level. The times stated for journey times could increase 
significantly if the lift was busy and people needed to wait.  

 
Risks include: 

 The area is very busy mainly due to the CB1 development and significant rail and Busway 
infrastructure,  this includes signals and buried services and may significantly increase 
the cost of this option  

 Possessions over the railway access are costly, often complex and time dependant, any 
delay would incur a significant extra cost and a delay that could lead into many months 

 It is probable that Network Rail would insist on a cover such as that on the Carter Bridge 
further increasing costs and adding to maintenance 

 If the lift on the car park breaks down the bridge would be unusable unless stairs were 
also provided.  

 If the lift is available 24 hours then there is an increased risk of vandalism, this could be 
reduced by camera monitoring at extra cost 

 If the Lift is closed during the small hours then the bridge would also need to be closed 

 Risk of failure of a remote lift with people in it, particularly on a hot or very cold day or late 
at night. The lift will have a call button but not being a manned facility, response could be 
slow. 
 

3.12 Option 2- Is also a complex solution similar to that of option one, but reduces the risk of closure 
by lift failure. This drops people off utilising a ramp in the area opposite the car park. Due to the 
height required for the bridge the ramp would be similar in length to that on the east side of the 
Carter Bridge.  Space for this ramp is very limited and it would need to be developed as a tight 
switchback, this can be difficult for those using wheelchairs and pushchairs. 
 
Risks include: 

 Area restrictions as in option 1 

 Railway possessions as in option 1 and the potential for significantly increased costs 

 A cover may be required by Network rail as in option 1 

 More likelihood of this being used by cyclists, as is currently the case on the green 
Dragon bridge, despite being designed for pedestrians only. 

 Putting in place controls to prevent cyclists would also deter other users such as those 
with pushchairs and wheelchairs. 
 

3.13 Options 3a and 3b – This provides a ramp either into the cinema area option 3a or alongside the 
Hills Road bridge wall, option 3b. A ramp in this area could visibly detract from the areas open 
pleasant appeal. The ramp would need to be level and high enough for delivery vehicles to enter 
and leave creating a long ramp area. 
 
Risks include: 

 High risk of impact on buried services. This would significantly increase costs if these 
needed to be diverted 

 Possibility of visual element being seen as a planning issue  
 

3.14 Option 3c- Provides for a public lift, this could benefit those with impaired mobility, wheelchair and 
those with pushchairs. There would be ongoing maintenance and staff costs to bear. There are 
very few lifts available in open public spaces; Most are closed during times when facilities are not 
available.  
 
Risks include: 

 In the small hours lift a may be at increased risk from vandalism or other misuse. It could 
be closed when the cinema and other facilities are closed. 

 Personal security may be a risk using a lift late at night, a well-lit glass sided lift could 
reduce this but that can provide an increased target for vandalism;  If glass is broken in a 
lift it would be out of use until it is replaced.  

 Risk of failure of a remote lift with people in it, particularly a risk to users on a hot or very 
cold day or late at night when response may be slow   

 Closure of a facility such as this for extended periods could have an impact on public 
confidence in our ability to deliver meaningful infrastructure 

 

Page 21



3.15 Option 4 –provides a ramp at the south of the hotel. This is very close to the actual turning and 
pedestrian area. However it may be difficult to justify, given its location and proximity to the 
normal entrance at the shopping centre access to the Leisure Park. 
 
Risks Include: 

 Possibility of unmarked buried services that could increase costs 
 

3.16 Option DN – Doing nothing is a real opportunity largely due to the benefits already realised from 
the development of the CB1 area opening up and reducing the journey to the Leisure Park from 
the rail station by almost five minutes to its current journey time. 
 
Conclusions 
 

3.17 Option 1 to option 3b would not be considered to offer a significant reduction in journey time for 
pedestrians, nor do they significantly improve the route by providing enough benefit to justify the 
costs both in construction and ongoing maintenance. 

 
3.18 Option 3c could benefit users with impaired mobility, wheelchair users or users with pushchairs 

with the installation of a lift alongside the existing stairs on Hills Road Bridge. However as can be 
seen from the data very few people with disabilities arrive via the pedestrian routes.  This option 
would also have a maintenance cost attached to it and could be closed for extended periods if 
vandalised or unserviceable for other reasons. 

 
3.19 Option 4 provides very little time saving benefits and could increase in costs substantially if buried 

services need to be relocated. 
 

3.20 Recent improvements delivered as part of the CB1 development have provided better access to 
the Leisure Park. The officer recommendation based upon the consultant’s report is that the idea 
of a new bridge should not be progressed any further. The conclusion is that the ‘do nothing’ 
option is seen as the preferred outcome.

Page 22



APPENDIX 1 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Page 1 of 34 

Environmental 
Report: Annual 
Report 
 
Cambridge South Area 
July to September 2015 
 

  

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



 
Page 2 of 34 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 3 

2. Target setting and recommendations ......................................................................................... 3 

3. Routine activity ........................................................................................................................... 4 

4. ‘Ward Blitz’ activity ..................................................................................................................... 4 

5. Specific issues and actions: Previous quarter ............................................................................ 6 

6. Specific issues and actions: Previous year ................................................................................ 9 

7. Environmental Data ................................................................................................................. 14 

Private Realm [South Area] ......................................................................................................... 14 

Public Realm Data ...................................................................................................................... 16 

Public Realm Enforcement [South Area] .................................................................................. 16 

Dog Warden Service [South Area] ........................................................................................... 18 

Operations cleansing data by ward [South Area] ..................................................................... 19 

Waste and Recycling Data [City wide] ..................................................................................... 21 

8. Proactive and community work: Previous quarter .................................................................... 23 

9. Proactive and community work: Previous year ........................................................................ 24 

10. Proactive and community work: Upcoming .......................................................................... 26 

11. Key contacts......................................................................................................................... 27 

Officers........................................................................................................................................ 27 

Issues ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

12. Resources ............................................................................................................................ 29 

13. Appendices .......................................................................................................................... 31 

 

 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
Page 3 of 34 

1. Introduction 
 
This report provides an overview of City Council Refuse and Environment and Streets and Open 
Spaces service activity relating to the geographical area served by the South Area Committee.  
The report identifies the reactive and proactive service actions undertaken in the previous year, 
including the requested priority targets and reports back on the recommended issues and 
associated actions to be targeted in the following quarter.  It also includes key officer contacts for 
the reporting of waste and refuse and public realm issues.  

2. Target setting and recommendations 
 
All those at Committee have an opportunity to suggest issues that they would like to see tackled in 
the neighbourhood area during the upcoming quarter to help shape the activity to be undertaken 
within the public realm. Following suggestions that are received the relevant teams will consider 
the suggestions, and will prioritise work, responding reactively where appropriate and 
programming some work for the future. All suggested targets will be reported back on in the 
following quarter to update members and the public on the status of the issue. Recommendations 
will also be presented to the committee for consideration and to aid discussion.  
 
Recommendations 
The following are suggestions for members on what action could be considered for priority within 
the South Area for the quarter of October to December 2015.  
 
Continuing priorities* 
 

Number Priority details 

1 
Early morning, daytime and weekend patrols for dog fouling on Bliss Way/Tenby 
Close, Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground, Godwin Close, Godwin Way, 
Gunhild Way and Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground.  

2 
Enforcement targeted approach to areas where Addenbrookes site joins residential 
areas such as Hills Road and Red Cross Lane and to work with Addenbrookes to 
work towards the bus station area being cleaned up.  

3 
Enforcement to work with the County Council, against utilities and companies that 
damage the verge on Mowbray and Fendon Road.  

4 Enforcement action against nuisance vehicles being repaired at Arran Close. 

5 
Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with littering from students of Long 
Road Sixth Form in the areas of Long Road and Sedley Taylor Road.  

 
New suggested priorities 
 

Number Priority details 

9 
Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog fouling, 
vegetation cut back and sweeping Aberdeen Avenue play area, Kathleen Elliott Way 
play area and Tenby Close play area.  

 
Members are recommended to endorse the above recommendations or to make proposed 
amendments, and in doing so to consider the following community intelligence questions to help 
shape the public realm work.   
 
 

                                                      
*
 Amendments to continuing priorities are shown in italics 

Page 27



 
Page 4 of 34 

Community intelligence questions 
1. What activities should be considered as part of ward blitzes? 
2. What geographical locations would benefit from targeted work? (including public realm 

enforcement activity and clean-up work by the community payback) 
3. What locations for new and replacement general waste, recycling and dog bins (in line with 

resources available) should be considered?  
4. Where and when the dog warden service should patrol in order to target dog fouling?  

3. Routine activity 
 
Streets and Open Spaces teams work closely with residents, community and campaign groups to 
keep Cambridge clean, green and safe. Street cleansing works to clear shop fronts and maintain 
all residential streets to a good standard of cleaning by sweeping them regularly.  The team 
empties litterbins and dog bins across the city parks and open spaces, as well as removing graffiti 
and clearing needles and fly tipping.  
 
The grounds maintenance team maintains all council housing and highway grass and shrub beds 
across the city, and carries out the maintenance of the city’s cemeteries and crematoriums as well 
as the maintenance of all parks across the city. The City Rangers team provide a street-level, 
face-to-face contact point for people to raise any cleanliness and public safety issues that they 
might have concerning their neighbourhood. 
 
The dog warden patrols within Cambridge to increase people's awareness of the requirement to 
clear up after their pets, as well as collecting stray dogs within the city and works alongside animal 
charities to deliver educational roadshows. Investigation of instances of environmental crime in 
public places across the city is carried out by the public realm enforcement team. As well as 
undertaking enforcement action where necessary, the team provide advice for residents and 
businesses on issues including fly tipping, litter, waste, illegal advertising, abandoned shopping 
trolleys, verge parking and abandoned, untaxed and nuisance vehicles. 

4.  ‘Ward Blitz’ activity  
 
The City Council has embarked on a campaign of monthly ‘ward blitzes’ across the City, involving 
the Council’s City Rangers, Rapid Response, Public Realm Enforcement and Street Cleansing 
teams.  These teams will undertake coordinated public realm maintenance, enforcement and 
educational action, targeting one ward every month in rotation.  Working within existing budgets, 
this action is additional to the routine, day-to-day, work undertaken by these services. 
 
Ward blitz activity will have included a combination of the following actions: 

- Deep cleansing of channels 
- Cleansing of litter and dog bins 
- Cleansing of signage 
- Cleansing of recycling centres 
- Increased dog warden presence 
- Increased public realm enforcement presence 
- Joint working with Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue, and Cambridgeshire Police 
- Free dog microchipping event  
- Proactive inspections by pest control in known hotspots 

 
The results of the ward blitzes are reported as follows: 
Cherry Hinton – Environmental Report January to March 2015 

Page 28



 
Page 5 of 34 

Queen Edith’s – Environmental Report July to September 2015 
 
Upcoming ward blitzes: 
 
Trumpington ward blitz will take place during September 2015 and the report will be included as 
part of the Environmental Report for the period October to December 2015.   

Page 29



 
Page 6 of 34 

5. Specific issues and actions: Previous quarter  
 
The following specific issues were identified for targeted action in the previous quarter. The 
following tables summarise the action undertaken and current situation, whether ongoing or 
completed, for each issue.  
 

Priority 1 
Early morning patrols for dog fouling on Bliss Way/Tenby Close, 
Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground, Godwin Close, Godwin Way, 
Gunhild Way and Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground.  

Action Taken 

Dog Warden patrols have been conducted by the dog wardens to address 
the issues of dog fouling at the above locations, patrol times totalled 20 
hours. Educational advice, verbal warnings and dog bags have been 
provided to a number of dog walkers seen at these locations during early 
mornings, daytimes and at weekends. Ongoing work continues in the areas 
to deal with dog fouling.    

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 2 

Enforcement targeted approach to areas where Addenbrookes site joins 
residential areas such as Hills Road and Red Cross Lane and to work 
with Addenbrookes to work towards the bus station area being cleaned 
up.  

Action Taken 

Over 4.5 hours of patrols have been conducted to address the issues of 
littering, and within this period one individual was witnessed littering at the 
junction of Dame Mary Archer Way and was issued a fixed penalty notice. 
Educational work has featured heavily in this period and a large number of 
pocket ashtrays have been given out and officers continue to patrol this area.  

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 3 
Enforcement to work with the County Council, against utilities and 
companies that damage the verge on Mowbray and Fendon Road.  

Action Taken 

Patrols continue to be conducted by officers to address the issues of verge 
parking at Mowbray and Fendon Road. Officers have visited on 21 
occasions, with total patrol times lasting just over 11 hours. In this period 
there were 4 vehicles witnessed parking on the grass verge and warning 
letters have been sent to registered keepers where possible. Officers 
continue to patrol during the week and at weekends.   

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 4 
Enforcement action against nuisance vehicles being repaired at Arran 
Close. 

Action Taken 

Patrols have been conducted at Arran Close, and to date warning letters 
have been sent to identify offenders and one untaxed vehicle has been 
seized on behalf of the DVLA. Officers will continue to monitor the area 
during the week and at weekends.  

Current Situation: Ongoing 

  

Page 30



 
Page 7 of 34 

Priority 5 
Enforcement work to investigate and enforce fly tipping and illegal 
waste disposal at the public recycling points in the South Area 

Action Taken 
Over 17.5 hours of patrols were completed to address the issues of fly tipping 
at the recycling centres in the South wards. A number of suspects have been 
identified and the cases are currently ongoing.  

Current Situation: Completed – this priority has been in place since April 2015  

Priority 6 
Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with littering from 
students of Long Road Sixth Form in the areas of Long Road and 
Sedley Taylor Road.  

Action Taken 
This work is programmed from mid-September when the new academic year 
starts and students will be educated and appropriate enforcement action 
taken.  

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 7 
Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog 
fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping at Ainsdale play area, 
Nightingale Recreation Ground and Kingfisher Way play area. 

Action Taken 
The whole of Ainsdale play area has been deep cleansed. This involved a 
team of two operatives to complete during August. 

Current Situation: Completed 

Action Taken 
The whole of Nightingale Recreation Ground has been deep cleansed. This 
involved a team of three operatives and took approximately 9 hours to 
complete during August. 

Current Situation: Completed 

Action Taken 
The whole of Kingfisher Way play area has been deep cleansed. This 
involved a team of two operatives to complete during August 

Current Situation: Completed 

 

Other issues:  

Issue 
Possibility of grass cutting causing hazards by mowing over 
cans/bottles on verges and what processes are in place to overcome 
the issue. 

Action Taken 

Operatives are expected to site survey any locations before grass cutting 
occurs, and to remove obvious obstructions including bottles and cans. 
Where possible mowing activities will follow litter picking operations to 
streamline the work. Where litter and other obstructions cause a danger to 
mowing, operatives will return at a later time once the area has been 
cleansed.  

Current Situation: Completed 

  

Page 31



 
Page 8 of 34 

Issue 

Question regarding use on whether mobile CCTV cameras can be 
placed on street lights to monitor dog fouling and other environmental 
issues in/near recreation areas given current lamppost replacement 
scheme 

Action Taken 

Information from the CCTV manager has highlighted that there is a group of 
members and council officers that are continuing discussions with the Leader 
of the County Council, the Head of Street Lighting and Balfour Beatty 
regarding this issue. It is ongoing and they are collating a large amount of 
information together. The discussions are much wider that RCCTV (re-
deployable CCTV) and are linked to the switch off of street lighting. Advice 
from the CCTV manager is that if Councillors have any questions that they 
are directed to the Leader of the Council who is fully aware of the issues with 
RCCTV cameras. Any request for CCTV must be made on an application 
form but in the current climate with lamppost restrictions a deployment cannot 
be guaranteed. 

Current Situation: Completed 

 

  

Page 32



 
Page 9 of 34 

6. Specific issues and actions: Previous year 
 
The following specific priorities were identified for targeted action in the previous 12 months. The 
following tables summarise the action undertaken and current situation, whether ongoing or 
completed, for each issue.  

Priority 
Early morning patrols for dog fouling on Bliss Way/Tenby Close, 
Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground, Godwin Close, Godwin Way, 
Gunhild Way and Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground  

Action Taken 

Educational work has been undertaken since October 2014. The dog 
wardens continue to patrol this area and have held dog microchipping and 
educational pop up events during the summer period. Over 40 hours of 
patrols have been undertaken and this continues to be a focus for the dog 
warden service during the upcoming quarter. 

Period October 2014 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 

Enforcement targeted approach to areas where Addenbrookes site joins 
residential areas such as Hills Road and Red Cross Lane and to work 
with Addenbrookes to work towards the bus station area being cleaned 
up.  

Action Taken 

Since October 2014, enforcement officers have worked to patrol 
Addenbrookes and the surrounding access roads / routes to and from local 
residential areas. Education and enforcement are balanced by conducting 
educational advice and enforcement action in the form of fixed penalty 
notices. Since October 2014 over 20 hours of patrols have been conducted 
on a regular basis and resulted in 5 fixed penalty notices issued for littering. 
Work continues at this site to deal with the litter on the public highway. 

Period October 2014 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 
Enforcement to work with the County Council, against utilities and 
companies that damage the verge on Mowbray and Fendon Road.  

Action Taken 

Since January just over 25 hours of patrols have been conducted by 
enforcement; during this time around 40 vehicles have been identified as 
breaching the byelaw.  Work continues in this area to deal with businesses 
and utility companies causing criminal damage.  

Period January 2015 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 
Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with littering from 
students of Long Road Sixth Form in the areas of Long Road and 
Sedley Taylor Road.  

Action Taken 

Patrols have been conducted by the enforcement team to identify those 
responsible for littering in the area. Further bins were installed at identified 
locations where litter was causing an issue and educational work is planned 
with the college for the new academic year to identify suitable educational 
methods and partnership working with the college.   

Period April 2015 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Page 33



 
Page 10 of 34 

Priority 
Deep cleanse of Snakey Path and the Tins from Burnside to include 
removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog fouling, vegetation cut back 
and sweeping  

Action Taken 

The whole of Snakey Path and the Tins from Burnside into the South area 
has been cleansed. The work involved a team of two operatives and took 
approximately 30 hours over 5 days to complete.  
One bridge on the Tins remained uncleansed and was heavily graffited; it 
was referred to Network Rail to address at the footbridge falls within their 
remit. No response was received from Network Rail.  

Period October to December 2014 

Current Situation: Completed 

Priority 
Enforcement work to investigate and enforce fly tipping and illegal 
waste disposal at the public recycling points in the South Area 

Action Taken 

Over 41 hours of patrols were completed to address the issues of fly tipping 
at the recycling centres in the South wards. A number of suspects were 
identified and the cases are currently ongoing. Patrolling these areas has 
been included as part of the ward blitzes to tackle fly tipping and incorrect 
waste disposal.  

Current Situation: April to September 2015 

Current Situation: Completed  

Priority Porson Road  patrols – investigations for needles and litter 

Action Taken 

A number of patrols were conducted to address litter and needles found in 
the area during the beginning of 2015. Patrols by officers identified that this 
appeared to be a one off issue and after three months of patrols no further 
offences were recorded.  

Period April to June 2015 

Current Situation: Completed  

Priority 
Enforcement action against nuisance vehicles at 

a. Cherry Hinton High Street and Fulbourn Road laybys 
b. Arran Close 

Action Taken 

Between October and December 2014 officers made regular visits to the 
Cherry Hinton High Street and Fulbourn Road laybys to inspect for vehicles 
for sale. No vehicles were found during this time. Since July 2015, officers 
have been inspecting Arran Close for nuisance vehicles and to date warning 
letters have been sent to identify offenders and one untaxed vehicle has 
been seized on behalf of the DVLA.  

Period October 2014 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

  

Page 34



 
Page 11 of 34 

Priority 

a. Requested litter bins for the following areas: Trumpington 
outside pavilion and hall, Mowbray Road outside Acacia Guest 
House, Shelford/Hauxton Road outside cemetery, Long Road 
junction with Sedley Taylor and Luard Road junction with Sedley 
Taylor Road 

b. Removal of old litter bin in Cherry Hinton High Street.  

Action Taken 
All of the new litter and recycling bins were installed in the period January to 
March 2015 and the removal of the old litter bin was completed during 
February 2015. 

Period January to March 2015 

Current Situation: Completed 

Priority Investigation of abandoned kebab trailer on Hulatt Road 

Action Taken 
The owner of the kebab trailer was completed during November and 
December 2014 and arranged for the trailer to be removed from its location 
on Hulatt Road. No further action was taken against the owner of the trailer.  

Period January to March 2015 

Current Situation: Completed  

Priority 
Enforcement patrols for illegal advertising and to contact estate agents 
regarding their legal responsibility 

Action Taken 

Letters were sent to all estate agents that are based in, or have been found 
to sell/let properties within Cambridge, to remind them of their legal 
responsibility to ensure that boards are only displayed within the boundary of 
a property.  
Patrols were conducted to address the issues of illegal advertising and over 
ten boards were found to be illegally positioned across the South Area, and 
approximately half of these were destroyed after they were not claimed by 
the owners.  During these patrols illegally advertised posters and banners 
were also removed and the organisations were sent warning letters regarding 
the illegality of flyposting.  

Period January to March 2015 

Current Situation: Completed 

Priority 
Enforcement joint working and patrols to deal with illegal camping on 
green open spaces, including Coe Fen 

Action Taken 

Officers visited Coe Fen and spent a number of hours dealing with illegal 
camping. Ten illegal camps were identified between July and September and 
were served notices; three of them were subsequently impounded by the 
council. During October to December no illegal camps were found. 

Period July to December 2014 

Current Situation: Completed 

  

Page 35



 
Page 12 of 34 

Priority 
Park deep cleanse, to include removal of graffiti, flyposting, litter, dog 
fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping  

Action Taken 

The following park cleanses have been completed between January and 
September 2015:  

 Cherry Hinton Recreation Ground: took a team of three operatives 12 
hours to complete during April 2015 

 Holbrook Road Recreation Ground: took a team of three operatives 6 
hours  to complete during February 2015 

 Trumpington Recreation Ground: took a team of  three operatives 9 
hours to complete during February 2015 

 Cherry Hinton Hall: took a team of four operatives 16 hours to 
complete during February 2015 

 Gunhild Recreation Ground: took a team of four operatives 12 hours to 
complete during February 2015 

 Ainsdale play area: tool a team of two operatives to complete during 
August 2015 

 Nightingale Recreation Ground: took a team of three operatives nine 
hours to complete during August 2015.  

 Kingfisher Way play area: tool a team of two operatives to complete 
during August 2015 

Period January 2015 to current period 

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Priority 
Jet wash ‘local shops’ at Wulfstan Way, Anstey Way and Cherry Hinton 
High Street to remove grime and chewing gum from the shop fronts  

Action Taken 
The shop areas within the South wards were cleansed and involved a team 
of two operatives taking approximately 6 hours over a period of 2 days.  

Period October to December 2014 

Current Situation: Completed 

Priority Deep cleanse of areas around (including passageways between) 
Godwin Way and Gunhild Close, Hulatt Road and Wulfstan Way, 
Holbrook Road and Glebe Road. 

Action Taken The alleyways were cleansed which involved removal of graffiti, flyposting, 
litter, dog fouling, vegetation cut back and sweeping. It involved a team of 
two operatives and took approximately 6 hours over 2 days to complete.  

Period October to December 2014 

Current Situation: Completed 

 

Other issues:  

The following issues were identified for action in the previous 12 months. The following tables 
summarise the action undertaken and current situation, whether ongoing or completed, for each 
issue: 

Issue 
Trial of dog poo bag dispenser at entrance at Nightingale Recreation 
Ground 

Action Taken 

A dog bag dispenser has been purchased and will form part of an upcoming 
dog fouling campaign. The Friends of group have been contacted and we 
have received a response from them. The trial should take place during 
October to December 2015 period.  

Current Situation: Ongoing 

Page 36



 
Page 13 of 34 

Issue Cleansing of Coe Fen paths covered in cow muck 

Action Taken 

This area is regularly monitored by Streets and Open Spaces Operatives 
staff during the spring and summer months and cleansing is undertaken as 
required in response to service requesters or as a response to staff 
monitoring.  

Current Situation: Completed 

Issue Clean up at Kathleen Elliott Way 

Action Taken 
The area at Kathleen Elliott Way was cleansed by the City Ranger and a 
team of operatives during February 2015. The work took approximately 24 
hours to complete.  

Current Situation: Completed  

Page 37



 
Page 14 of 34 

7. Environmental Data 

Private Realm [South Area] 

Period Activity Investigations 
Treatments 
Carried out 

Informal 
Action / 
Written 

Warnings 

Statutory 
Notices 
Served 

Simple 
Cautions 

Legal 
Proceedings 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 
Pest Control2 

45 43 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 44 39 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 
Proactive Pest 
Interventions3 

4 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Noise 
Complaints 

61 
N/A 

4 
1 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 75 1 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Refuse/ Waste 
Complaints 

5 
N/33A 

4 
0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 4 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Other public 
health 

complaints5 

14 
N/A 

4 
0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 2 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Private Sector 
housing 

standards 

23 
N/A 

4 
0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 18 2 0 0 

Data is from 1 July to 26 August 2015 
 

                                                      
2
 Data is from 1 July to 21 September 2015 

3
 Data is from 1 July to 21 September 2015, new data set for period July to September 2015 

4
 All complaints will generally have at least one such action 

5
 Other public health complaints includes odour, smoke, bonfires, filthy and verminous 

P
age 38



 
Page 15 of 34 

 

Summary of public realm enforcement data 

 

 Proactive pest intervention areas in the last quarter have included Snakey Path, Daws Close, Baldock Way allotments, Brooklands 
Avenue allotments and open spaces and Foster Road allotments.  

  

P
age 39



 
Page 16 of 34 

Public Realm Data  

Public Realm Enforcement [South Area] 

Period Activity Investigations 
Written 

Warnings 
Statutory 
Notices 

Fixed Penalty 
Notices 

Simple 
Cautions 

Legal 
Proceedings 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Abandoned 
vehicles 

16 
N/A N/A 

1 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 20 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Nuisance 
vehicles6 

2 2 
N/A 

0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 4 2 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Verge 
parking7 

6 5 
N/A N/A 

0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 4 2 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Derelict 
cycles 

11 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 18 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Domestic 
waste 

10 4 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 42 3 0 2 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 
Trade waste 

2 1 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 1 1 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 
Litter 

1 0 0 1 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 2 0 0 2 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Illegal 
camping 

10 
N/A 

10 
N/A 

0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Illegal 
advertising 

7 7 
N/A 

0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 6 5 0 0 0 

Data is from 1 July to 22 September 2015  

                                                      
6
 Nuisance vehicles includes vehicles displayed for sale or being repaired (other than in an emergency) on the public highway 

7
 Applies to Mowbray and Fendon Road only  

P
age 40



 
Page 17 of 34 

 

Summary of public realm enforcement data 

 

 Of the 20 abandoned vehicles the majority were removed by their owners or claimed within the 7 day notice period. One untaxed vehicle 
was seized from Arran Close, which remains in storage.  

 Four nuisance vehicles were found across the South Area. Two vehicles were found for sale on Fendon Road and Queen Edith’s Road; 
both vehicles were removed from sale within a 7 day period. One vehicle was found to being repaired on Ventress Close and the 
registered keeper was sent a warning letter regarding the illegal activity.     

 There were four cases of verge parking identified on Mowbray Road. Two warning letters were sent and two cases are still ongoing.  

 Eighteen derelict cycles were removed from across all four wards. The number of cycles removed as abandoned in the South area usually 
varies between 15 to 25 a quarter.  

 There were forty two domestic waste investigations conducted in the area between July and September, the majority of which was waste 
littered and fly tipped at recycling centres across the area. Of the investigations conducted there were 3 warning letters and 1 verbal 
warning, as well as two fixed penalties issued for littering at Colville Road recycling centre. There are currently 14 ongoing cases awaiting 
further action.     

 One case of trade waste was investigated in the South area; waste that was dumped was traced to a business, who complied with the 
request for their waste transfer information. 

 There were two cases of litter investigated in the South area during July to September period and both cases resulted in fixed penalties 
being issued for littering. One was at Dame Mary Archer Way and the other at Colville Road, both were subsequently paid.   

 Six incidents of illegal advertising were identified five of which were estate agent boards and one A-board. Of this all estate boards and the 
A-board were removed by the agent.  

  

P
age 41



 
Page 18 of 34 

Dog Warden Service [South Area] 

Stray dogs 

Period Activity 
Number of 

cases 
Rehomed Destroyed Claimed In Kennels Comment 

Quarter 2: 
2014/15 Stray dogs 

 
 

5 1 1 3 0 
Seven other stray dog calls were received, but the dogs 

were collected by their owner before the dog warden 
attended 

Quarter 2: 
2015/16 

4 1 0 2 1 
One other stray dog calls was received, but the dog 
was collected by their owner before the dog warden 

attended 

Data is from 1 July to 22 September 2015  
 

Dog Control Orders 

Period Activity Investigations 
Written 

Warnings 
Statutory 
Notices 

Fixed Penalty 
Notices 

Simple 
Cautions 

Legal 
Proceedings 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 Dog control 
orders: 
Fouling 

6 0 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 8 0 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 
2015/168 

Dog control 
orders: 

Exclusion 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 
2015/168 

Dog control 
orders: Leads 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 
2015/168 

Other dog 
complaints9 

2 0 0 0 0 0 

Data is from 1 July to 22 September 2015  

  

                                                      
8
 New data set for period July to September 2015 

9
 Includes issues such as barking, welfare, signage requests and educational advice as well as joint working with Environmental Health, RSPCA and Housing Associations’  

P
age 42



 
Page 19 of 34 

Operations cleansing data by ward [South Area] 

Period Activity 
Total number of 

incidents 

Ward 

Cherry Hinton Queen Edith’s Trumpington 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 

Fly tipping 

63 35 6 22 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 40 20 10 10 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 

Offensive graffiti10 

0 0 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 2 0 1 1 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 

Detrimental graffiti11 

4 1 2 1 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 3 0 1 2 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 
Needles 

51 51 0 0 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 479 475 0 4 

Quarter 2: 2015/16 

Shopping trolleys 

8 0 0 8 

Quarter 2: 2014/15 3 1 1 1 

Data is from 1 July to 23 September 2015 

 
  

                                                      
10

 Offensive graffiti includes but is not limited to that which contains swear words, reference to religion, racist,  reference to a person / naming a person, drawings of human 
body parts, words of reference to human body parts and reference to sexual activity.  The service aim is to remove this type of graffiti within 1 working day. 
11

 Detrimental graffiti is graffiti that contains but is not limited to general tags, drawings not falling under the above criteria, and words not classified as offensive. The service 
aim is to remove this type of graffiti within 5 working days.  

P
age 43



 
Page 20 of 34 

Summary of operations cleansing data:  
  

 Of the 35 reports for fly tip in the Cherry Hinton ward, nine came from Colville Road recycling area, seven from St Bedes Crescent and 
four from Teversham Drift, the other fly tip reports for Arbury area were reported from different locations. 

 Worts Causeway accounts for three of the total fly tips in Queen Edith’s, no other particular trends with types of fly tipped material were 
identified in this period. 

 In September the ward blitz for Trumpington took place and 50% of the reported fly tips were cleared during this time. The majority of 
these were from the recycling areas, and resulted in a large amount of evidence where enforcement action was taken.  

 In Cherry Hinton, 51 needles were removed from a litter bin in St Bedes Crescent; an investigation is ongoing with the enforcement team 
and City Homes South.   

 The number of trolleys impounded by Streets and Open Spaces was 6, all collected from Brookgate. 

P
age 44



 
Page 21 of 34 

Waste and Recycling Data [City wide]  

 
This section includes information about the Waste Policy team’s area of responsibility.  The team has an Operational Plan that covers the work 
for the year.  This work is generally not area based but it is useful to residents and provides statistics to demonstrate activity and continuous 
improvement in areas of sustainable waste management. 
 

Activity Q1 Apr-Jun 

Recycling rate – dry recycling 2015/16 21.4% 

Recycling rate – dry recycling 2014/15 21% 

Recycling rate – composting 2015/16 23.8% 

Recycling rate – composting 2014/15 24.9% 

No of press releases issued 5 

No of 2nd blue bins delivered 93 

No of 2nd Green bins delivered 87 

No. of black bins changed from standard to small 32 

No of events attended 15 

No of people spoken to 800 

No of Kitchen Caddies given out 473 

No of Recycling Champions (RC) at events 33 

No of new RC recruited 8 

Amount of rubbish/recycling collected at events 
(tonnes) 

Total 35.7 tonnes 
24.7 T rubbish (69%) 
11 T recycled (31%) 

No of community/school visits to AmeyCespa 14 

 

  

P
age 45



 
Page 22 of 34 

Summary of Waste and Recycling Data 
 
Composting and recycling figures are high during quarter one but subject to fluctuation over the seasons. Many community events have been 
attended in the first quarter of the year with support from our volunteer recycling champions. These range from Community Action Days to 
general recycling promotion for national Recycle Week, to Love Food Hate Waste Campaign events including a very successful launch “punt 
stunt” event in May in conjunction with Cambridge Sustainable Food. The event was widely covered on the radio and local press (including front 
page of the Cambridge News) and gained extensive coverage in social media.   
 

Events attended 

April to June 2015 

Date Location Details 

14/04/2015 Recycling Centre Trip to SATcO 

09/04/2015 
Thorpe Way Community 

Day 
Thorpe Way 

21/05/2015 Tristram Stuart Talk St Pauls Church 

22/05/2015 Punt Stunt Quayside 

23/05/2015 EAT Festival Corn Exchange 

29/05/2015 Beehive Centre Compost Giveaway 

06/06/2015 St Bedes St Bedes Community Day 

13/06/2015 Arbury Arbury Carnival 

20/06/2015 
Chesterton Recreation 

Ground 
Chesterton Festival 

23/06/2015 
Recycling Week 
Kings Hedges 

Caddy hand out and information 

24/06/2015 St Pauls Church Cooking Demonstration with Full Spoon Café 

24/06/2015 Trumpington Meadows Community Afternoon/Environmental day 

25/06/2015 Cherry Hinton High Street Caddy hand out and information session 

26/06/2015 
Shirley Community 

Nursery 
Caddy hand out and information session 

27/06/2015 
Arbury Community 

Centre 
Cooking Demo with Sustainable Food 

 

P
age 46



 
Page 23 of 34 

8. Proactive and community work: Previous quarter  
 
During the previous quarter the following proactive and community work has been undertaken.  

Task / Event Queen Edith’s Community Clean Up Day 

Date August 2015 

Action Taken 

This was a joint event between the council and local organisations for a 
community clean-up day where people were able to dispose and recycle 
household waste, including bulky items for free. There was a ‘Take it or 
Leave it’ stall for items suitable for re-use, and recycling information was also 
available. Other council departments were also on site, including the dog 
warden and housing officers to provide education and advice.  On the day 
6.08 tonnes of rubbish was collected, including 1.12 tonnes of electrical and 
1.16 tonnes of metal waste which were recycled.   

Current Situation Completed 

 

Task / Event Trumpington Community Clean Up Day 

Date August 2015 

Action Taken 

This was a joint event between the council and local organisations for a 
community clean-up day where people were able to dispose and recycle 
household waste, including bulky items for free. There was a ‘Take it or 
Leave it’ stall for items suitable for re-use, and recycling information was also 
available. Other council departments were also on site, including the dog 
warden and housing officers to provide education and advice.  On the day 
8.46 tonnes of rubbish was collected, including 1.18 tonnes of electrical and 
0.84 tonnes of metal and 0.86 tonnes of green waste which are recycled. 

Current Situation Completed 

 

Task / Event Free dog microchipping – Kings Hedges (Pulley) Recreation Ground 

Date July 2015 

Action Taken 

As part of an ongoing programme of dog education throughout the city, free 
dog microchipping events were held in conjunction with the Dogs Trust at the 
following locations:  

 Wulfstan Way as part of Queen Edith’s Clean Up Day – August 

 Trumpington Pavilion as part of Clean Up Day - August 

 Cherry Hinton Hall - July 

 As part of the Pets in the Park event – June  

Current Situation Ongoing – part of a programme of ongoing work 

 

Task / Event Waste and Recycling Events 

Date April to July 2015 

Action Taken Detailed on page 22 of this report. 

Current Situation Ongoing – part of a programme of ongoing work 

Page 47



 
Page 24 of 34 

9. Proactive and community work: Previous year  
 
During the previous 12 months the following proactive and community work has been undertaken.  

Task / Event Dog microchipping  

Date August 2014 onwards 

Action Taken 

As part of an ongoing programme of dog education throughout the city, free 
dog microchipping events have been held in conjunction with the Dogs Trust. 
Events have been held at: 

 Wulfstan Way as part of Queen Edith’s Clean Up Day – August 2015 

 Trumpington Pavilion as part of Clean Up Day – August 2015 

 Cherry Hinton Hall – August 2014 and July 2015 

 As part of the Pets in the Park event – June 2015 

 Hanover and Princess Court – September 2014 and April 2015 

 Trumpington Pavilion – September 2014 

Current Situation Ongoing – part of a programme of ongoing work  

Task / Event Dog fouling campaign 

Date December 2014 

Action Taken 

As part of the Keep Britain Tidy ‘We’re Watching You’ dog fouling campaign, 
Borrowdale was monitored for dog fouling during a 4 week period, during 
which time glow in the dark posters were put up to encourage owners to 
dispose of dog mess correctly.  

Current Situation Completed  

Task / Event Dog poo poster competition  

Date March to May 2015 

Action Taken 

A dog poo poster competition open to local children, aged 11 years and 
under, was run between March to May where children were invited to create 
a ‘Bag it, Bin It’ campaign poster to promote that dog owners should clear up 
after their dogs and can use either the dog or litter bins in the city. Over 130 
entries were received from the competition and the winners were selected 
during June 2015. The winners and a number of the runners up were from 
the South wards. A copy of the newspaper articles with the winners is shown 
in the appendix of this report.  

Current Situation Completed – posters to be used as part of an educational programme 

Task / Event Wintercomfort Volunteer Work 

Date July 2014 onwards  

Action Taken 

The South Area City Ranger has undertaken a programme of work with 
volunteers from Wintercomfort over the period of July to September 2014 and 
included work cutting back vegetation, clearing footpaths and opening up 
access to alleyways on Wulfstan Way, Fulbourn Old Drift, Colville Road, 
Leete Road, Mallett Road, Anstey Way and Hulatt Road as well as some 
other local area.  

Current Situation Ongoing – part of a programme of work with Wintercomfort 

Page 48



 
Page 25 of 34 

Task / Event Burnside Allotment Project 

Date January to March 2015 

Action Taken 

In a project run by Cambridge Housing Society (CHS) for people with 
learning difficulties and vulnerable adults, work was conducted in March 2015 
by CHS, City Rangers and volunteers from Wintercomfort at Burnside 
allotments.  

Current Situation Ongoing  

Task / Event Bidwells Clean Up 

Date April 2015 

Action Taken 
As part of the community work undertaken by Bidwells in the South, during 
April work was completed in conjunction with the City Ranger at Trumpington 
Village Hall.  

Current Situation Completed 

 

 

  

Page 49



 
Page 26 of 34 

10. Proactive and community work: Upcoming  
 

The following proactive and community work is currently planned to take place:   

Task / Event Free dog microchipping   

Location City wide 

Dates September 2015 onwards 

Description 

The dog wardens are offering free dog microchipping to any owners of dogs 
who are not currently chipped. It becomes law in April 2016 for all dogs to be 
microchipped. Dog wardens will be available Wednesdays to visit residents 
and/or events to provide the service. 

Details Contact Dog Warden Service (details on page 27) for further information.  

 

 

Page 50



 
Page 27 of 34 

11. Key contacts  

Officers 

Area Contact Telephone Number Email 

Environmental Health Manager Yvonne O’Donnell 01223 457951 yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk 

Senior Operations Manager Don Blair 01223 458575 Don.blair@cambridge.gov.uk 

Operations Manager (Grounds 
Maintenance) 

Paul Jones 01223 458215 Paul.Jones@cambridge.gov.uk 

Operations Manager (Community 
Engagement and Enforcement) 

Wendy Young 01223 458578 Wendy.young@cambridge.gov.uk 

South Area Ranger: Vacant City Rangers 01223 458282 cityrangers@cambridge.gov.uk 

Public Realm Enforcement (South 
team): 

 

Nick Kester 

01223 458573 
01223 458062 

streetenforcement@cambridge.gov.uk Steve Phillips 

Andy Hine 

Dog Warden 

Samantha Dewing (Mon-
Wed) 

01223 457883 dogwarden@cambridge.gov.uk 

Sharron Munro (Wed-Fri) 

Volunteer opportunities (Streets, 
Parks and Open Spaces) 

Rina Dunning 01223 458084 Caterina.dunning@cambridge.gov.uk 

Recycling Champions Co-ordinator 01223 458240 recycling.champions@cambridge.gov.uk 

Out of Hours Emergency calls 0300 3038389 N/A 

 

P
age 51

mailto:yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:Don.blair@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Jones@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:Wendy.young@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:cityrangers@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:streetenforcement@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:dogwarden@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:Caterina.dunning@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:recycling.champions@cambridge.gov.uk


 
Page 28 of 34 

Issues  

Area Contact Telephone Number Email 

Dog fouling 
Litter 

Fly tipping (public land) 
Graffiti 

Needles 
Abandoned, untaxed and nuisance 

vehicles 
Illegal camping 

Bulky waste collections 
New blue, green and black bins 

Replacement blue, green and black bins 
Repairs to blue, black and green bins 

Customer Service Centre 01223 458282 wasteandstreets@cambridge.gov.uk 

Abandoned bicycles Customer Service Centre 01223 458282 cityrangers@cambridge.gov.uk 

Pest Control 

Refuse and Environment 01223 457900 env.health@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Noise 

Stray and lost dogs Customer Service Centre 01223 457900 dogwarden@cambridge.gov.uk 

 

 

P
age 52

mailto:wasteandstreets@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:env.health@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:dogwarden@cambridge.gov.uk


 
Page 29 of 34 

12. Resources  
The following are suggestions that members of the South Area Committee and residents and 
businesses may wish to consider or request for the upcoming period:  
 
Recycling and general street litter bins 
A small quantity of recycling and general street litter bins are available for each ward, as follows: 
 

Ward Bins used Bins available for installation 

Cherry Hinton 
4 (plus 3 new bins awaiting 

installation) 
7  

Queen Edith’s 5 6 

Trumpington 
4 (plus 3 new bins awaiting 

installation 
3 

 
We would like to receive suggestions for where bins should be installed on the street and will 
investigate the suitability of all suggested locations. We will also be undertaking a review of where 
bins are currently installed to see how they are used.  
 
Installed bin sites: 

Ward Location Installation Date 

Cherry Hinton Coldhams Lane (Near Norman Way) May 2015 

Queen Edith’s 
Long Road (junction with Sedley Taylor 

Road) 
January 2015 

Queen Edith’s 
Sedley Taylor Road (junction with Luard 

Road) 
January 2015 

Queen Edith’s 
Mowbray Road (outside Acacia Guest 

House) 
March 2015 

Queen Edith’s Hills Road (on pavement near hospital) March 2015 

Queen Edith’s 
Cavendish Avenue (outside Lady Jane 

Court) 
March 2015 

Queen Edith’s  Long Road (near to number 13) July 2015 

Trumpington Hills Road (near Harvey Road) July 2015 

Trumpington Outside pavilion January 2015 

Trumpington Outside village hall January 2015 

Trumpington 
Shelford Road / Hauxton Road (outside 

cemetery) 
January 2015 

 
Dog bin provision 
A number of dog bins are available for each ward, as follows:  

Ward Bins used Bins available for installation 

Cherry Hinton 2 2 

Queen Edith’s 0 4 

Trumpington 1 2 

 
We would like to receive suggestions for where bins should be installed on the parks and open 
spaces and will investigate the suitability of all suggested locations. We will also be undertaking a 
review of where bins are currently installed to see how they are used.  
  

Page 53



 
Page 30 of 34 

 
Installed bin sites: 

Ward Location Installation Date 

Cherry Hinton 
Kathleen Elliott Way (near Snakey 

path footpath) 
May 2015 

Cherry Hinton 
Arran Close (on green at top of 

road) 
July 2015 

Trumpington 
Brooklands Avenue (by Hobsons 

Conduit) 
June 2015 

 
Pocket ashtray distribution 
Locations of where pocket ashtrays should be distributed from are welcomed by the Public Realm 
Enforcement team.  
 
Dog fouling signs 
Small quantities of ‘no dog fouling’ signs are available for each ward, as follows: 

Ward Signs used 
Signs available for 

installation 

Cherry Hinton 0 13 

Queen Edith's 0 13 

Trumpington 0 13 

 

 

Page 54



 
Page 31 of 34 

13. Appendices  
 

Ward Blitz Activity – Queen Edith’s – May 2015 

The City Council has embarked on a campaign of ‘ward blitzes’ across the City, 
involving the Council’s City Ranger, Rapid Response, Public Realm 
Enforcement and Street Cleansing teams.  These teams will undertake 
coordinated public realm maintenance, enforcement and educational action; this 
is additional to the routine, day-to-day, work undertaken by these services. 
 
Ward blitz activities include:  
 

 Cleansing of gulley’s 

 Cleansing of litter and dog bins 

 Cleansing of signage 

 Cleansing of recycling centres 

 Increased dog warden presence 

 Increased public realm enforcement presence 

 Joint working with Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue, and Cambridgeshire Police 

 Free dog microchipping event  
 
Queen Edith’s was the seventh ward area to receive the targeted service during May 2015.  A 
summary of the ward blitz action delivered in the month is detailed below: 
 

Shop fronts deep clean 
Shop fronts and associated street furniture pressure 
washed at Wulfstan Way Shops 

Litter clearance 
All footways within the ward have been cleared of 
litter and debris at least once a week during the blitz 
period.  

Cleansing of recycling centres 

All recycling sites within Queen Edith’s were visited 
once in the month and have been pressure washed 
and also all of the footway surfaces pressure washed 
at these locations. 
Operations staff visited all recycling sites at least 
once a week to clear and dispose of any fly tipped 
items.  

Graffiti removal 
The graffiti teams proactively patrolled and cleared 
all graffiti, both offensive and detrimental.  

Sweeping of litter, detritus and 
leaves 

A large mechanical sweeper was deployed to Queen 
Edith’s and swept all carriageway channels (where 
not obstructed by parked vehicles) at least once in 
the month, and a mid-size mechanical sweeper with 
support from operatives swept footways and 
carriageways (where not obstructed by parked 
vehicles) at least once in the month with manual 
clearance of detritus to assist machine where 
required 

Page 55



 
Page 32 of 34 

Increased dog warden presence 

The Enforcement Team conducted patrols in the 
green space area of Queen Edith’s to deal with 
issues of dog fouling. Patrols included a mixture of 
early morning, daytime and weekend patrols.  
The following locations were visited: 

 Nightingale Avenue Recreation Ground 

 Holbrook Road 

 Gunhild Way 

 Gunhild Way play park 
In total eighteen hours were spent patrolling the ward 
for dog control issues and providing education where 
required. No fixed penalties were issued for dog 
control breaches. 

Increased public realm enforcement 
presence 

The public realm enforcement team carried out 61 
hours of hi-visibility patrols in the ward during May, 
including the following specific issues:  

 Seven hours spent investigating littering issues at 
Wulfstan Way shop area, distributing pocket 
ashtrays the Council’s litter voluntary code 
scheme. In total six of the businesses signed up 
to the voluntary code of practice.   

 13.5 hours of foot patrols were conducted on 
Mowbray and Fendon Road where there is a 
byelaw prohibiting vehicles parking on the grass 
verges and causing damage. Seven warning 
letters issued 

 Wulfstan Way Recycling Point had two incidences 
of dumped waste, one lawnmower and one 
shopping basket. No enforcement action taken. 

 17 hours of litter patrols were conducted and this 
resulted in two fixed penalties for littering, both for 
littering cigarettes, one on the Holbrook Road and 
the other on Puddicombe Way. 

Increased city ranger presence 

The city ranger team carried out an amount of hi-
visibility work in the ward during May, including the 
following specific issues:  

 Provided waste educational advice to residents 
on Long Road.  

 Completed removal of abandoned bicycles at 
Robinson Way and Baldock Way. 

 Completed removal of fly tipping at Wulfstan Way 
recycling centre and Waitrose recycling centre.  

 

  

Page 56



 
Page 33 of 34 

 

Example of dog mess disposal sticker 

 

Newspaper article from July 2015 with poster winners  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Matters and Actions Arising from the Minutes
	6 Cycling Projects Update
	7 Environmental Data Reports - SAC



